FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/22/2024 1:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. _____ COURT OF APPEAL NO. 852086

Case #: 1036353

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN BEARD, individually and as the personal representative of THE ESTATE OF SUPAK BEARD,

Appellants,

V.

THE EVERETT CLINIC, PLLC; OPTUM CARE SERVICES COMPANY; OPTUM CARE, INC., AND SHAILA H. GALA, MD,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian J. Fisher, WSBA# 46495 Ben W. Wells, WSBA# 19199 Joshua B. Trumbull, WSBA# 40992 Wells Trumbull, PLLC 106 E. Gilman Ave., Arlington, WA 98223 Phone: 360-435-1663

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The exercise of judgment instruction states:

A physician is not liable for selecting one of two or alternative courses of treatment, if, in arriving at the judgment to follow the particular course of treatment, the physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care the heath care provider was obliged to follow.

The phrase "in arriving at the judgment to follow the particular course of treatment" tells the jury that the physician must exercise reasonable care in arriving at, or in formulating, the "judgment." The judgment is the "selecting" of a particular course of treatment between alternative courses of treatment.

This Court has repeatedly held this instruction requires the physician to exercise reasonable care and skill consistent with the applicable standard of care "in formulating his or her judgment" or "in arriving at a judgment." *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 806, 811, 346 P.3d 708 (2015); *Christensen v. Munsen*, 123 Wn.2d 234, 249, 867 P.2d 626 (1994); *Watson v. Hockett*, 107 Wn.2d 158, 165, 727 P.2d 669 (1986).

The Court of Appeals disregarded the language of the instruction and precedent, holding that it was enough for a physician to make a choice for any reason, so long as the ultimate choice met the standard of care. In other words, how the physician "formulated" or "arrived at" the "judgment" does not matter, despite the precedent holding to the contrary.

Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals' analysis demonstrates the incorrect and harmful nature of this instruction. If the Court of Appeals needed 13 pages summarizing the history of Washington jurisprudence to determine the meaning of "arriving at the judgment," what hope does a jury have to understand this language? This Court should accept review to examine the exercise of judgment instruction and precedent.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Steven Beard, individually and as personal representative of the estate of his deceased wife, Supak, ("The Beard Family") petitions this Court to accept review.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the published Court of Appeals decision, filed October 28, 2024, is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition at App. 002 – App. 069.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err by determining that "affirmative evidence that the physician's reasoning underlying [the physician's choice between competing diagnoses or methods of treatment] was consistent with [the standard of care] is not required" when this Court has repeatedly held such evidence is required for the exercise of judgment instruction?
- 2. Should Fergen v. Sestero, Christensen v. Munsen, Watson v. Hackett, and earlier Supreme Court precedent approving the exercise of judgment instruction be overruled as incorrectly decided and harmful?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Gala, a rheumatologist, treated Supak Beard for lupus. RP 534-36, 563, 765. Dr. Gala prescribed prednisone, a steroid that reduces inflammation but also suppresses immune system responses, including fever. RP 257, 770, 638, 640. Between 2014 to October 2017, Supak was only on 4 milligrams of prednisone. RP 257.

In January 2018, when Supak was in serious pain, Dr.

Gala increased Supak's prednisone dosage to 60 milligrams, and gave Supak a shot of 40 milligrams of steroids. RP 260-261.

Supak followed Dr. Gala's orders in reducing her prednisone dosage to 20 milligrams on January 29. *Id*.

On February 5, Supak called Dr. Gala's office to report she had a fever and chills for the previous six days, coinciding with the reduced dosage. RP 263. Supak went to an urgent care, where the doctors ordered a chest X-ray along with urine and blood tests. RP 264, 302. The blood and urine tests were negative. RP 302. However, the urgent care doctor and radiologist both noted the X-ray showed possible pneumonia. Ex. 431 at 5, Ex. 432 at 2. Supak was prescribed an antibiotic for pneumonia. Ex. 433 at 1. Despite the urine and blood tests being negative, the chest imaging caught the infection.

On March 1, Supak went to an appointment with Dr.

Gala with a recurrent fever, chills, and an elevated pulse. RP

268. Dr. Gala's chart note recited the "possible pneumonia"

from February, and that the "etiology of fever is unclear." Ex. 435A at 2, 8. Dr. Gala ordered urine and blood tests, but did not order any repeat chest imaging (the test that revealed the infection several weeks before) and did not refer Supak to infectious diseases. Ex. 435A at 8, RP 823-824. Dr. Gala referred Supak to a gastroenterologist, and did not explain to the gastroenterologist Dr. Gala's concern about a possible infection. *Id.*, RP 826. Dr. Gala doubled Supak's prednisone dosage to 40 milligrams per day. RP 815.

The next morning on March 2 Supak's fever increased despite the massive increase in prednisone (a fever suppressant); Dr. Gala simply told Supak to schedule the appointment with gastroenterology. Ex. 436 at 3. Dr. Gala did not communicate or record her suspicion that Supak had an infection at the time with anyone. RP 306.

On March 22, when Supak was still in pain, Supak underwent a CT scan which found golf ball sized masses in

Supak's lungs and intestines. RP 301. These were the same abnormalities from the same infection noted on the February 5 X-Ray. RP 185. Supak's intestines ruptured from the infection, ultimately killing Supak. RP 302, 304.

Supak alleged 4 reasons Dr. Gala was negligent: failing to order follow up imaging on the March 1 visit (the method used in February to successfully detect the infection), failing to refer Supak to an infectious disease specialist on March 1, failing to refer Supak to an infectious disease specialist on March 2, and failing to alert the gastroenterologist of Dr. Gala's suspicion of infection. RP 1055, 1058, 1060, 1064-65. The trial testimony of Dr. Gala's reasoning for these decisions, and the expert testimony regarding what the standard of care required of a rheumatologist, were as follows:

- 1. Failing to Order Follow Up Imaging
 - Dr. Gala testified she did not order repeat chest imaging on March 1 because Supak reported no cough or shortness of breath, and Supak's lungs sounded

- clear on exam. RP 819.
- Dr. Brown (Beard Family Expert) testified the standard of care required Dr. Gala as the treating physician to order follow up imaging. RP 293, 349.
- Dr. Volkman (Respondents' Expert) testified the standard of care required considering that Supak responded well to antibiotics in addition to Dr. Gala's findings on the March 1 exam, and the risk of radiation in not ordering an X-ray. RP 710, 746, 752-753.
- 2. Failing to Refer to Infectious Disease on March 1
 - Dr. Gala did not explain why she did not make a referral for infectious disease. *See* RP 760.
 - Dr. Brown testified the standard of care required referring to an infectious disease specialist because chills aren't common in a lupus patient experiencing a flare. RP 254-55, 264.
 - Dr. Volkman testified the standard of care required

considering Supak's low-grade fever and that there were no other localizing signs of infection before declining to refer to an infectious disease specialist. RP 709.

- 3. Failing to Refer to Infectious Disease on March 2
 - Dr. Gala explained she did not make an infectious disease referral because Supak's blood and urine tests
 "to date" were negative for infection. RP 913-14.
 - Dr. Brown testified the standard of care required an infectious disease referral when there was a suspected infection without a known cause. RP 272, 278-279, 307.
 - Dr. Volkman testified the standard of care required considering how Supak's increased prednisone dosage would interact with the fever, and the "pending" studies looking for infection. RP 618.
- Failing to Alert Gastroenterologist About Dr. Gala's Suspicion of Infection

- Dr. Gala testified that she did not tell the gastroenterologist about Dr. Gala's suspicion of infection because the gastroenterologist could take a history and do an exam. RP 917-918. Dr. Gala conceded she did not tell anyone about her suspicion of infection. RP 306.
- Dr. Brown testified Dr. Gala needed to tell the gastroenterologist about Dr. Gala's suspicion of infection. RP 288.
- Dr. Volkman testified all the information the gastroenterologist needed was in the electronic medical record. RP 717. Dr. Volkman did not dispute the standard of care required alerting the gastroenterologist about Dr. Gala's suspicion of infection.

The Trial Court gave four instructions related to the standard of care. The first listed the elements of a medical malpractice action that Beard had to prove. App. 071. The

second explained that Dr. Gala's failure to exercise the skill, care, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent rheumatologist in Washington in similar circumstances breached the standard of care. App._073. The third explained that a physician does not guarantee the results of care or treatment, and that a poor medical result is not alone evidence of negligence. App._074. The Fourth was the exercise of judgment instruction. App. 077.

Like every other jury receiving the exercise of judgment instruction, the jury returned a defense verdict. *See* App._079-080.

The Beard Family appealed, arguing the evidence did not support the giving of the exercise of judgment instruction and that half the standard of care instructions were unfairly repeating the defense theory of the case. *See* Brief of Appellants at 17-26, 35-39, n.7; Reply Brief of Appellants at 13-35. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding it did not matter that Dr. Gala's reasoning for reaching her judgment of treatment choices

did not match the expert testimony on the standard of care.

App._045.

The Beard Family now seeks review by this Court.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. History of This Court's Exercise of Judgment Instruction Jurisprudence

This Court first reviewed the exercise of judgment instruction in *Dinner v. Thorp*, 54 Wn.2d 90, 338 P.2d 137 (1959),¹ in the following form:

A physician is not liable for damages consequent upon an honest mistake or an error in judgment in making a diagnosis or in determining upon a course of procedure where there is reasonable doubt as to the nature of the physical conditions involved. If a physician being to his patient care, skill, and knowledge he is not liable to the patient for damages resulting from his honest mistakes or a bona fide error of judgment. The law requires a physician to base any professional decision he may make on skill

mean that it is incorporated into jury instructions. *See Turner v. City of Tacoma*, 72 Wn.2d 1029, 1034, 435 P.2d 927 (1967).

¹ The Court of Appeals wrongly begins its analysis with *Dishman v. N. Pac. Beneficial Ass'n*, 96 Wash. 182, 164 P. 943 (1917). *Dishman* did not review any jury instruction. *See generally id*. Simply because the Supreme Court may have used certain language in an opinion about the law generally does not

and careful study and consideration of the case, but when the decision depends upon an exercise of judgment the law requires only that the judgment be made in good faith.

Id. at 97-98 (italics in original, underlining added). The Court reversed based on the italicized "good faith" language, noting that it "indicates to the jury that good faith absolves ... liability, irrespective of [the physician's] exercise of such skill and learning as is usually used by physicians ..." Id. The Court did not comment on the underlined language requiring the physician to base any decision on "skill and careful study and consideration of the case." Id.

In Samuelson v. Freeman, 75 Wn.2d 894, 454 P.2d 406 (1969), this Court reversed a defense verdict in a medical malpractice case where the trial court "overinstructed" the jury on the standard of care and the skill required of physicians. *Id.* at 896. One of the instructions was "a physician is not liable for malpractice choosing one of two or more methods of treatment if his choice was based on honest judgment." *Id.* This Court

ruled that the instructions, even if singly correct, overemphasized limits on physician liability. *Id.* The Court did not dispute that the "honest judgment" standard was applied to how the selection of treatment options was made. *See id.*

In a series of successive appeals of the same case, this Court held that the instruction required the physician to exercise reasonable care and skill in arriving at a judgment. The Court of Appeals reviewed an instruction stating, "a physician is not liable for an honest error of judgment if, in arriving at that judgment, the physician exercised reasonable care and skill, within the standard of care he was obliged to follow." *Miller v*. Kennedy, 11 Wn. App. 272, 280, 522 P.2d 852 (1974) ("Miller I"). In Miller v. Kennedy, 85 Wn.2d 151, 152, 530 P.2d 334 (1975) ("Miller II"), this Court "approved and adopted" the reasoning of the Court of Appeals in *Miller I*. The Court of Appeals held in *Miller I*, and this Court adopted in *Miller II*, that "[a] doctor is liable only for misjudgment when he arrived at such judgment through a failure to act in accordance with

the care and skill required in the circumstances." Miller I, 11 Wn. App. at 280 (emphasis added.).

In *Watson*, 107 Wn.2d at 165, this Court expressly held the exercise of judgment instruction requires the physician "in arriving at the judgment ... exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care ..."

In *Christensen*, 123 Wn.2d at 248-49, this Court approved the exercise of judgment instruction, but did not give a blanket approval of the instruction in all medical malpractice cases. Instead, the *Christensen* Court noted the instruction only applies "when there is evidence that *in arriving at a judgment, the physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care* he or she was required to follow." *Id.* at 249 (emphasis added).

In 2015, this Court explicitly held there were two requirements for the exercise of judgment instruction:

In Washington, an exercise of judgment instruction is justified when (1) there is evidence that *the physician exercised reasonable care and skill*

consistent with the applicable standard of care in formulating his or her judgment and (2) there is evidence that the physician made a choice among multiple alternative diagnoses (or courses of treatment).

Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 806 (numbering in original, italics added).

Thus, throughout this Court's sixty-five-year jurisprudence on the exercise of judgment instruction, this Court has consistently required that the physician met the standard of care in arriving at the selection, or formulating the judgment to make the selection, of a diagnosis or treatment.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With This Court's Precedent, and the Meaning of "Arriving at the Judgment" and "Formulating the Judgment" is an Issue of Public Importance

Departing from precedent, the Court of Appeals instead concluded that the exercise of judgment instruction does not require proof that the physician's "arriving at the judgment" or "formulating the judgment" to select among one or more treatment options met the standard of care, but simply that the

end selection met the standard of care. App._037, 041, 043-045.

The Court of Appeals' published reasoning directly conflicts with Watson's, Christensen's, and Fergen's requirements that the exercise of judgement instruction be given when there is evidence the physician exercised reasonable care and skill consistent with the applicable standard of care in "formulating" his or her judgment. Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 608; Christensen, 123 Wn.2d at 249; Watson 107 Wn.2d at 165. By defining "formulating his or her judgment" from caselaw and "arriving at the judgment" from the instruction to simply mean "judgment," the Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's repeated holdings that the exercise of judgment instruction requires evidence of how the physician made the judgment. Review is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court has repeatedly held that the exercise of professional judgment is an inherent part of medicine. *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 805; *Watson* 107 Wn.2d at 165. The Court of Appeals ruling that "arriving at the judgment" and "formulating

the judgment" simply means "judgment" results in any medical malpractice case meeting the first requirement that there be "(1) ... evidence that the physician exercised reasonable care and skill consistent with the applicable standard of care in formulating his or her judgment." Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 608. The Court of Appeals decision, rather than explain what is required to meet the first Fergen requirement, instead eliminated the first requirement all together.

The bench and bar are now left uncertain whether the first requirement in *Fergen, Christensen*, and *Watson* is still a requirement, or if it is simply dicta and the only requirement is that a doctor made a choice between two or more treatments or diagnoses. Given the practicing medicine always involves choosing between one or more treatments or diagnoses to help a patient, this requirement is seemingly met in every medical malpractice case. The Court should accept review to clarify what "exercised reasonable care and skill consistent with the applicable standard of care in formulating his or her judgment"

means under RAP 13.4(b)(4), if anything.

C. The Exercise of Judgment is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

To the extent the Court of Appeals is correct that "arriving at the judgment" in the exercise of judgment instruction simply means selection of a diagnosis or treatment, the precedents upholding the exercise of judgment instruction are incorrect, harmful, and must be overruled. *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). This is an issue of substantial public importance that needs to be reviewed.

Indeed, if the Court of Appeals is correct, the exercise of judgment instruction's focus on how the physician "arrived at the judgment" to select a diagnosis or treatment is a misstatement of law. Prejudice from such a misstatement of law is presumed. *Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, PS,* 182 Wn.2d 842, 849, 348 P.3d 389 (2015).

///

1. The Exercise of Judgment Instruction and Precedent Approving it are Incorrect

The exercise of judgment instruction is itself an incorrect statement of law, and the cases upholding it are incorrectly decided.

The exercise of judgment instruction tells the jury they must consider whether the physician, "in arriving at the judgment to [select the particular course of treatment or select a particular diagnosis], the physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care the physician was obligated to follow." App._077; WPI 105.08. The instruction's focus on whether the physician met the standard of care in "arriving" at the ultimate treatment or diagnosis selection does not matter if the physician's ultimate treatment decision or diagnosis meets the standard of care.

If the standard of care for a patient with a neck injury is to not move the patient, and a doctor does not move the patient, the doctor meets the standard of care by not moving the patient no matter the reasoning. The exercise of judgment instruction focuses the jury's attention to how the physician "arrived at" or "formulated" the ultimate judgment, but liability can only be had for the ultimate judgment. There is no claim in Washington based on a doctor's subjective mental state; medical malpractice is a breach of the objective standard of care proximately resulting in injury. RCW 7.70.040(1)(a). The Court's precedent approving the exercise of judgment instructions is incorrect in that it tells the jury a doctor may not be liable based on the doctor's irrelevant subjective mental state. *See* App._077 ("A physician is not liable for ...").

Other states have abandoned this instruction as incorrect because it injects subjectivity (the doctor's reasoning behind a choice) into the objective standard of care issue (the doctor's ultimate choice). *See, e.g., Pringle v. Rapaport,* 980 A.2d 159, 173-174 (PA 2011); *Papke v. Harbert,* 738 N.W.2d 510, 527 (S.D. 2007); *Pleasants v. Alliance Corp.,* 209 W.Va. 39, 49-50 (2000) (noting Alabama, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida,

Idaho, Iowa, Minnesota, Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, Virginia, and Wyoming abandoned similar instruction); *Hirahara v. Tanaka*, 87 Haw. 460, 464 (1998); Rogers v. Meridian Park Hosp., 307 Or. 612, 620 (1989). The states that have some form of the exercise of judgment instruction focus on the end choice of the physician, and do not tell juries to consider how the physician "arrived at" the choice. See, e.g., Day v. Johnson, 255 P.3d 1064, 1070-1071 (CO 2011); Condra v. Atlanta Orhtopaedic Group, 285 Ga. 667, 668 (2009); Nestorowich v. Ricotta, 97 N.Y.2d 393, 399 (2002); Morlino v. Medical Ctr. Of Ocean Cnty., 152 N.J. 563, 583-584 (1998). Washington's exercise of judgment instruction, which tells the jury to focus on how the physician arrived at judgment to select between one or more treatments or diagnoses, is the incorrect outlier.

Furthermore, the Court's precedent is incorrect in that it gives no guidance to the bench or bar on when to use the instruction. This Court has both upheld the denial of the

instruction in *Watson* and the giving of the instruction in *Fergen*. The only guidance from the Court is to use the instruction "cautiously." The bench and bar have no way of knowing what constitutes a "cautious" use of this instruction.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not analyze whether the instruction was given "cautiously," or offer any guidance as to what constitutes a cautious use of the instruction. Under the Court of Appeals' analysis, any time a doctor makes any decision between diagnoses or treatments and there is evidence that the end selection meets the standard of care, the exercise of judgment instruction is appropriate. Given modern medicine relies extensively on differential diagnoses and considering multiple treatment options for any patient, the Court of Appeals decision now permits the exercise of judgment instruction to be given in nearly every medical malpractice case.

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