FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/23/2024 9:24 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103635-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN BEARD, individually and as personal representative of THE ESTATE OF SUPAK BEARD,

Petitioners,

THE EVERETT CLINIC, PLLC; OPTUM CARE SERVICES COMPANY; AND OPTUM CARE, INC; AND SHAILA H. GALA, MD,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Attorney for Respondent FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 3131 Elliott Ave., Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98121 Ph: 206.749.0094

Email: amanda@favros.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

No RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrants this Court's review of a pattern instruction that it has held for decades courts have discretion to give when the evidence supports the instruction, as it did here. Division I did not eliminate any requirement this Court has articulated for giving the exercise-ofjudgment instruction. Division I correctly applied well-settled precedent to demonstrate that Dr. Gala satisfied each requirement for the instruction: she had choices among alternative diagnoses and treatments, and expert testimony supported that she exercised reasonable care and skill in making the choices she made. There is no conflict with this Court's decisions. Nor can Beard create an issue of substantial public interest by making arguments about the instruction's propriety this Court has previously rejected.

A. <u>Division I's Decision Does Not Conflict with this Court's Decisions.</u>

This Court has "consistently approved of the exercise of judgment jury instruction in appropriate medical malpractice cases." *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 803, 346 P.3d 708 (2015) (citing *Miller v. Kennedy*, 85 Wn.2d 151, 151-52, 530 P.2d 334 (1975) (*Miller II*); *Miller v. Kennedy*, 11 Wn. App. 272, 280, 522 P.2d 852 (1974) (*Miller I*); *Miller v. Kennedy*, 91 Wn.2d 155, 160, 588 P.2d 734 (1978) (*Miller III*); *Watson v. Hockett*, 107 Wn.2d 158, 164-65, 727 P.2d 669 (1986); *Christensen v. Munsen*, 123 Wn.2d 234, 249, 867 P.2d 626 (1994)).

An exercise-of-judgment instruction is "justified when (1) there is evidence that the physician exercised reasonable care and skill consistent with the applicable standard of care in formulating his or her judgment and (2) there is evidence that the physician made a choice among multiple alternative diagnoses (or courses of treatment)." *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 806 (citations omitted). Contrary to Beard's assertions, *Pet. at 15-16*, Division

I did not eliminate either requirement. It found Dr. Gala's evidence satisfied both. *Slip Op. at 47-59*.

First, Dr. Gala had choices. Division I found "numerous bases on which a jury could find that Dr. Gala was presented with circumstances requiring her to make a choice between methods of treatment," including:

[I]ncreasing Supak's prednisone dosage or maintaining (or lowering) her prednisone dosage during the time in question; ordering urine and blood testing or ordering urine and blood testing as well as another chest X-ray on March 1; continuing to wait for the urine and blood test results or urgently referring Supak to an infectious disease specialist on March 2; and referring Supak to a gastroenterologist and trusting that the consultant would review the record of issuing such a referral and personally contacting the gastroenterologist ahead of the appointment.

Slip Op. at 57-58.

Second, "Dr. Gala made choices—that is, exercised her medical judgment":

Dr. Gala adjusted Supak's prednisone dose in response to her reported symptoms, clinical observations, the laboratory test results, and imaging studies. Dr. Gala ordered blood, urine, and stool cultures in response to Supak's reported—and

clinically observed—fever and her reported blood in her stools. Dr. Gala referred Supak to a gastroenterologist in response to ongoing abnormal liver functioning tests. And, in response to Supak's new symptoms of a second day of fever and three days of blood in her stools, Dr. Gala chose to continue to review Supak's pending urine and blood culture tests each day and order a stool pathogen panel as she waited for the test results to finalize.

Slip Op. at 58.

Finally, "the record contains expert witness testimony supporting that Dr. Gala made choices that were consistent with the rheumatological standard of care. ... Dr. Volkmann, a rheumatological expert witness, testified that each of Dr. Gala's choices discussed herein were consistent with the standard of care." *Slip Op. at 58-59; see also id. at 47-59;* pages 12-16, *supra*.

Beard's contention, *Pet. at 17*, that the "bench and bar are now left uncertain whether the first requirement ... is still a requirement" is wrong. Division I straightforwardly recognized, followed, and applied both requirements consistent with this Court's decisions.

Division I also properly rejected Beard's contention that evidence the physician met the standard of care in "formulating" or "arriving at" his or her judgment necessitates "testimony that—at each step along the way—the physician's thought process was consistent with the standard of care," Slip Op. at 32, notwithstanding having made a choice within the standard of care. Division I correctly appreciated that "the phrase a physician's 'arriving at a judgment' between competing therapeutic techniques or among medical diagnoses is merely another way Washington state appellate courts have referred to the physician's choice made between such treatments or diagnoses." Slip Op. at 40; see also Slip Op. at 42-43 ("formulating his or her judgment" is an iteration of the same principle that the physician's judgment is the physician's choice).

None of this Court's decisions Beard cites, *Pet. at 11-15*, conflict with Division I's decision. None discusses let alone requires additional expert testimony that the defendant's state-

of-mind complied with the standard of care. *See, e.g., Fergen,* 182 Wn.2d at 808-09 (focusing on "choices that necessarily involved" physician's judgment); *Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, PS,* 182 Wn.2d 842, 851-52, 348 P.3d 389 (2015) (approving instruction where doctor chose to treat patient for one of two competing diagnoses); *Christensen,* 123 Wn.2d at 249 (approving instruction where defense experts testified that ophthalmologist's choice complied with standard of care though they would have treated patient differently).

These decisions evaluate whether the choice—objective evidence of the defendant's judgment—was reasonable and whether the defendant used "clinical judgment in diagnosis or treatment" to reach that choice. *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 799. Thus, a trial court may instruct on exercise-of-judgment when the doctor made "choices that necessarily involved his judgment", and expert testimony supports that the "**choices** were within the standard of care." *Id.* at 808 (emphasis added). The test is whether evidence establishes that the doctor had a choice among

alternatives, made a choice, and the choice complied with the standard of care, as here.

Division I properly held, consistent with this Court's decisions, that "the exercise of judgment instruction may be given when there is proof that a physician was confronted with a choice between competing diagnoses or methods of treatment, each or all of which would be consistent with the standard of care, and proof that the choice made by the physician among those options was consistent with the standard of care. Affirmative evidence that the physician's reasoning underlying that choice was consistent with that standard is not required." *Slip Op. at 44*.

Beard also argues that Division I improperly relied on the emergency doctrine to justify giving the exercise-of-judgment instruction, *Pet. at 25-27*. It did not; Division I's decision was based on precedent upholding the exercise of judgment instruction. It discussed the emergency doctrine only in refutation of Beard's contention that the exercise-of-judgment

instruction was unique and therefore somehow improper: "Beard's perception of the propriety of this instruction is colored by his perception of it being unique in the law. ... However, the principles underlying the exercise of judgment instruction are not at all unique in the law." *Slip Op. at 25*; *see also Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 811 (recognizing that elaborating instructions are commonly used in negligence law and are helpful for lay jurors).

Regardless, Beard's fixation on the reasoning underlying the choices is immaterial because Division I also recognized that "Dr. Volkmann provided cogent reasoning as to **why** each of those choices were within the standard of care." *Slip Op. at 59* (emphasis added). Even if this Court's decisions imposed a requirement that the physician's underlying reasoning comply with the standard of care, evidence confirmed Dr. Gala's did.

B. <u>Beard's Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial</u> Public Interest.

This Court has considered and rejected Beard's argument, Pet. at 18, that the exercise of judgment instruction is "incorrect, harmful, and must be overruled," instead holding it "helps juries to understand the complexity of the legal standard that they are being asked to apply." *Paetsch*, 182 Wn.2d at 852 (citing *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 811). The instruction provides "useful watchwords to remind judge and jury that medicine is an inexact science where the desired results cannot be guaranteed, and where professional judgment may reasonably differ as to what constitutes proper treatment." *Watson*, 107 Wn.2d at 167 (quotations and citations omitted). It "is a useful tool to remind juries of the fallibility of medicine." *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 804 (citing *Watson*, 107 Wn.2d at 167).

"Properly given and worded, this instruction does not misdirect the jury and is not confusing;" it simply "alerts jurors that they must resolve factual issues regarding the standard of care" and still "requires the jury to find that in arriving at the diagnosis or treatment the physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the requisite standard of care." *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 811 (citations omitted).

Beard fails to provide "a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful" to warrant abandoning such precedent. Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 809. Beard's contention that the instruction overemphasizes defense theories and confuses juries, Pet. at 23-30, raises no argument distinguishable from those raised in Fergen that this Court rejected. See, e.g., Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 810 (rejecting argument that instruction is unnecessary, confuses jurors, emphasizes defense theory, and creates unfair advantage to defendants tantamount to directed verdict). Beard's reprise of previously rejected arguments in an attempt to invalidate the instruction is foreclosed. Paetsch, 182 Wn.2d at 852.

Beard nonetheless contends, *Pet. at 20*, "[this] Court's precedent approving the exercise of judgment instructions [sic] is incorrect in that it tells the jury a doctor may not be liable based on the doctor's irrelevant subjective mental state." He then cites, *Pet. at 20-21*, several out-of-state cases he claims "have abandoned this instruction as incorrect because it injects

subjectivity (the doctor's reasoning behind a choice) into the objective standard of care issue (the doctor's ultimate choice)." But, what he ignores is that the instructions injecting a subjective, rather than objective, standard that those out-of-state cases rejected contained such qualifiers as "good faith", "bad faith", "bona fide", "honest", or "mere" errors of judgment or "mistakes" in judgment, see cases cited Pet. at 20-21, including Morlino v. Med. Ctr. of Ocean Cnty., 152 N.J. 563, 585-87, 706 A.2d 721 (1998); Day v. Johnson, 255 P.3d 1064, 1070, 1071 (Colo. 2011). This Court has already disapproved such language. See Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 804 and cases cited therein. It does not appear in the pattern exercise-of-judgment instruction this Court has approved that the trial court gave in this case.

Beard, however, suggests, *Pet. at 21*, that, because the outof-state cases he cites approving some formulation of an exercise-of-judgment instruction "do not tell juries to consider how the physician 'arrived at' the choice," the pattern exerciseof-judgment instruction this Court has approved is an outlier. Nothing could be further from the truth. Beard's assertions that the physician's reasoning behind his or her ultimate choice is irrelevant, *Pet. at 29*, or that the "instruction's focus on how the physician 'arrived at the judgment' to select a diagnosis or treatment is misstatement of law", *Pet. at 18*, are simply not true.

By telling the jury that "[a] physician is not liable for selecting one of two or more alternative courses of treatment, if, in arriving at the judgment to follow the particular course of treatment, the physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care ...," the instruction properly allows the jury to consider not only whether the choice was within the standard of care, but also whether the physician took the appropriate steps the standard of care required before making that choice. See Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 810-11 (rejecting dissent's assertion that exercise-of-judgment instruction incorrectly "focuses the jury on the physician's choice rather than the plaintiff's claim that the physician failed to take the proper steps before making the choice," and "could make the jury believe it does not need to resolve factual issues regarding the standard of care.")

Beard's position that this Court's precedent "gives no guidance to the bench or bar on when to use the instruction," *Pet*. at 21, is also incorrect. This Court has clearly mandated that "a court should give the instruction only when the physician presents sufficient evidence that they made a choice between two or more alternative, 'reasonable [and] medically acceptable' treatment plans or diagnoses" not "simply if a physician is practicing medicine at the time." Needham v. Dreyer, 11 Wn. App. 2d 479, 490, 454 P.3d 136 (2019), rev. denied, 195 Wn.2d 1017 (2020) (quoting *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 808). As Division I recognized, the physician must have a choice between alternative diagnoses or treatments, make a choice, and making the choice must comply with the standard of care, as in this case.

Finally, Beard repeatedly asserts without evidence, *Pet. at* 10, 22, 27, juries receiving the exercise of judgment instruction uniformly return defense verdicts. That same argument in

Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 810, did not persuade this Court that the long-standing precedent approving the instruction was incorrect or harmful so as to warrant eliminating the instruction.

No data substantiates that every jury receiving the instruction returns a defense verdict, much less that the instruction causes them to do so. Indeed, data disproves it. For example, the instruction was given in *Woodring-Thueson v. State*, King Cty. Sup. Ct. No. 15-2-29985-9 SEA, and *Evans v. Seattle Children's Hospital*, King Cty. Sup. Ct. No. 15-2-26711-6 SEA, both of which resulted in eight-figure plaintiff verdicts. The instruction does not tell juries that judgment calls are immune from liability, and no data supports that juries interpret it that way.

Beard's rehashing of arguments that this Court has previously rejected regarding the exercise-of-judgment instruction's propriety do not create an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's further review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Division I's decision is not in conflict with any decision of

this Court. Nor does Beard's petition involve any issue of

substantial public importance. This Court should deny Beard's

petition for review.

I declare that this document contains 4,996 words.